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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

NARRATIVE REPORT

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Movement in Reserves Statement

The accounting statements contained in this booklet represent the Combined Fire Authority's (CFA's) 

accounts for the year ended the 31
st
 March 2018.  The accounts have been presented in accordance with 

the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

The accounts comprise the core financial statements, the names and purposes of which are described

below:

This statement shows the movement in year on the different reserves held by the CFA, analysed into 

usable reserves (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and 

unusable reserves.  The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic 

cost of providing the CFA’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (CIES). This is different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the 

General Fund Balance for Council Tax setting purposes.  The Net Increase or Decrease before 

Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any 

discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the CFA.

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded by taxation.  Authorities raise taxation 

to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.  The 

taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS).  The deficit on the provision of 

services is £6,838k (£2,359k in 2016/17).

Balance Sheet

This sets out the value of assets and liabilities of the CFA as at the 31
st
 March 2018.  The net assets of the 

CFA (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the CFA.  Reserves are reported in two 

categories.  The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the CFA may use to 

provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on 

their use.  The second category of reserves is those that the CFA is not able to use to provide services.  

This category of reserves include reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the 

Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are 

sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the MIRS line 'Adjustments between accounting 

basis and funding basis under regulations'.

The net worth of the CFA is £44,572k (£40,706k 2016/17) excluding pensions - a deficit of £413,589k 

(£410,936k 2016/17) including pensions.

Cash Flow Statement

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the CFA during the reporting 

year. The statement shows how the CFA generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash 

flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating 

activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the CFA are funded by way of taxation 

and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the CFA. Investing activities represent the 

extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the CFA’s 

future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future 

cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the CFA.
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

Revised 

Budget

£000

Actual

£000

Variance 

 

£000

25,443 25,288 (155)

2,118 2,085 (33)

1,045 1,034 (11)

3,591 3,593 2

3,592 3,567 (25)

35,789 35,567 (222)

(2,415) (2,425) (10)

690 674 (16)

34,064 33,816 (248)

Updated 

Programme
Actual Variance

£000 £000 £000

1,403 992 (411)

2,412 1,383 (1,029)

318 0 (318)

1,125 374 (751)

5,258 2,749 (2,509)

The Capital Programme variance mainly relates to ongoing projects that did not complete in 2017/18 but

are scheduled for completion in 2018/19 (£2,511k). The property variance (£1,029k) is due to the finalising

of works at a fire station at Castle Donington (£40k), extension works to Coalville Fire Station to

accommodate police and ambulance services (£69k), work at Wigston station (£337k), work at Lutterworth

station (£260k) conditions survey (£153k) and the training rig (£170k).  

The majority of the expenditure in year relates to the adaptation to Coalville station (£856k), Wigston station

(£321k), hydraulic tool replacements (£305k) and vehicle purchases (£992k).

Total Expenditure

Capital Financing

Summary of the year (Revenue)

The table below provides a comparison of revenue expenditure for the financial year ending the 31
st
 March 

2018 with the revised budget.

Employees

Premises

Secondment income (£165k), recovered costs (£282k), sales, fees and charges (£82k), interest income

(£46k), dividend from the subsidiary, Forge Health Limited (£61k), radio mast income (£34k) and

Partnership Income (£207k)

Summary of the year (Capital)

The table below provides a comparison of actual payments for the financial year ending the 31
st

March 2018

with the most recent updated capital programme.

IT and Equipment

Retained pay (£78k), Training and other employee related costs (£52k), Repairs and Maintenance (£75k)

and Other Premises Costs (£41k).

Savings comparing the actual expenditure with the original budget were £574k, as reported in the 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) at Note 1.  

Property

Fire Control Project

Vehicles

Gross Expenditure

Controllable Income

Contribution (from)/to Specific Reserves

Total Expenditure

The accounts for 2017/18 show savings of £248k compared to the revised budget, before adjustments

relating to reserves.  The main areas of savings are as follows:

Supplies and Services

The main items of income (excluding grant and funding income) are:

Transport

2



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

Borrowing

 

Pension Funds

The Balance Sheet shows liabilities in respect of five pensions schemes provided for our staff:

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) borrowing has remained at £14,478k.  There were no finance leases 

commenced during 2017/18 and repayments charged of £875k decreased the outstanding borrowing to 

£2,651k (£3,527k 2016/17). Total borrowing of £17,129k is less than originally anticipated in the 2017/18 

budget (an authorised debt limit of £23,500k).

Financing of capital expenditure has primarily been undertaken historically by procuring loans from PWLB, 

from finance leases available in the market, by capital grants from the Home Office, by using proceeds from 

sales of surplus capital assets or by using one-off excess funds such as savings. The facility to borrow from 

other Local Authorities is used where appropriate.

Earmarked reserves have been created to support the CFA in managing future change and transition and to 

finance future Capital Programme expenditure so as to reduce or remove the requirement to borrow funds.  

Earmarked reserves are mainly funded by using amounts saved within the revenue budget. 

The £12,761k liability (£13,022k in 2016/17) on the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is expected 

to be covered by increased levels of employer contributions.

The CFA has agreed to hold the sum of £2,000k of it's revenue budget as a general reserve from 

2018/19.

Earmarked Reserves 

The Annual Report and Statement of Assurance 2017/18 provides information on the Authority and 

identifies it's strategic and corporate plans.  It highlights the work that the CFA has undertaken over the year 

and provides assurance that the CFA is meeting its statutory and legal requirements. It provides a full 

review of the CFA's operational performance against Key Corporate Indicators (KCIs). 

Annual Performance

The Firefighters’ schemes are statutory unfunded schemes and the significant total liability of £445,400k 

(£438,620k in 2016/17) is a result of this position. There is no requirement, or legal powers, for the CFA to 

fund this deficit, and any costs not financed by future levels of employee or employer contributions will be 

met by grant from the Home Office. More details on pensions can be found in note 37.

Provisions are held for current insurance claims and for non-domestic rates appeals. Provisions are 

measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. A provision has been 

made in respect of the Firefighters pay award from July 2017 as an interim award of 1% was given whilst 

negotiations are ongoing.  Current expectation is that the pay award could be increased by an additional 1% 

payable from July 2017 and therefore £148k has been put into a short-term provision for this purpose.

There are no contingencies or significant write offs in 2017-18.

Events After the Reporting Period.

There are no events after the reporting period to report.

Significant Provisions, Contingencies or Write Offs
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17

Number of Emergency Incidents

Primary Fires 1273 1269 1284

Secondary Fires 998 973 975

RTCs Attended 669 658 694

Other Emergency Special Services 2235 2174 2202

Hoax Calls 343 354 373

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17

Number of Deaths and Injuries

Deaths from Primary Fires 10 0 6

Non-Fatal Injuries from Primary Fires 36 37 35

Deaths from RTCs 20 37 36

Serious Injuries from RTCs 270 248 224

 'Our Plan' refers to the objectives and purpose of the Authority, and includes information in the foreword on 

the external environment in which the Authority operates.

Some relevant performance indicators are:

Emergency Incidents 2017/18 

Primary Fires Secondary Fires RTCs Attended Other Emergency Special Services Hoax Calls
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Deaths from Primary Fires Non-Fatal Injuries from
Primary Fires

Deaths from RTCs Serious Injuries from RTCs

No. of Deaths and Injuries 

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17

Hoax Calls

Malicious False Calls NOT Responded to 226 237 259

Malicious False Calls Responded to 117 117 114

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17

Response Times

Life threatening incidents attended within 10 minutes 95.9% 97.0% 96.5%

Non-life threatening Incidents attended within 20 minutes 99.3% 99.0% 99.4%
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

2017/18 17/18 Target 2016/17

Capacity, Staff and Availability

Avg. number of days/shifts lost to sickness - Operational Staff 6.53 5.00 6.35

Avg. number of days/shifts lost to sickness - Support Staff 11.67 8.50 11.38

Future Issues, Risks and Opportunities

The property revaluation undertaken as at the 31
st
 March 2018 identified £1,567k revaluation increases and 

£584k revaluation losses.  £627k negative revaluations were not covered by positive values held in the 

revaluation reserve from previous revaluations. The net increase of £983k is 2.32% of the value of the entire 

property portfolio (excluding property assets in construction).  The repairs and maintenance budget and the 

refurbishment plan in the capital programme help keep the value of the portfolio as high as the economy 

permits. 

In order to address the impact of the current economic climate, the following actions have been identified;

In September 2016, an efficiency plan was submitted to the Home Office, in order to meet the Government’s 

conditions for a four year finance settlement. The plan has been approved and a multi-year settlement, to 

2019/20, achieved. The Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21 was approved by the CFA in February 2018. 

The budget strategy shows that a balanced budget can be achieved over this period. Following savings 

approved in the period to 2016/17 and increases in council tax income since 2016, there is limited capacity 

for some growth to bolster operational capacity. The substantial savings achieved were due to a number of 

factors: 

- The reaching of the operational target establishment much sooner than was previously assumed.

- The outcomes of three strategic reviews in respect of management structure, use of the buildings within 

the CFA's estate and the vehicle fleet.

- The early achievement of shared services and accommodation reduction targets.

The savings have enabled the service to provide growth in improving operational capacity and resilience. 

Over 2017/18 a successful recruitment campaign enabled the appointment of an additional twenty-five 

firefighters.

Property Revaluation
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

On 23 June 2016, the EU referendum took place and the people of the United Kingdom voted to leave the 

European Union. Until exit negotiations are concluded, the UK remains a full member of the European 

Union and all the rights and obligations of EU membership remain in force. During this period the 

Government will continue to negotiate, implement and apply EU legislation. It will be for the Government, to 

finalise negotiations to exit the EU. The outcome of these negotiations will determine what arrangements 

apply in relation to EU legislation and funding in future, once the UK has left the EU. At this stage no 

estimate of its financial effect on the reporting entity can be made.

Notwithstanding this, the position for 2020/21 is uncertain and further savings are expected to be required in 

the medium term as the Government seeks to eliminate the public sector spending deficit. The budget 

strategy sets aside monies for a longer-term review of the operational estate. This will focus on the 

adequacy and running costs of fire stations including co-location opportunities. The plan is to reduce 

operational cost and help secure the longer term viability of the service. 

The Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21 identifies three key expenditure risks covering levels of pay 

awards, implementation of any recommendations arising from the Grenfell tragedy and levels of inflation. 

These risks are mitigated through the levels of general reserve, the funding of capital projects from the 

revenue budget reducing the costs of debt financing and the strategic approach to reviewing the operational 

estate with a view to achieving savings.
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)  

(iv)

(v)

Alison Greenhill

TREASURER OF THE COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY 

Date: 25
th

July 2018

selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently,

THE CFA'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

The CFA is required to; 

make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In the CFA that officer is the 

Treasurer,

manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 

assets, 

approve the Statement of Accounts.

These accounts were approved by the Treasurer to the CFA on the 25
th

 July 2018.

Kenneth Bool

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the CFA's Statement of Accounts in accordance with 

proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom (the Code). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the chief financial officer has: 

THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S RESPONSIBILITIES 

CHAIR OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent,

complied with the local authority Code,

kept proper accounting records which were up to date,

taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Combined Fire 

Authority as at the reporting date and of its income and expenditure for the year ended the 31
st
 March 2018.
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

Gross Expenditure

Gross 

Income

Restated

Net Expenditure Gross Expenditure

Gross 

Income Net Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

33,410 (10,127) 23,283 Cost of Services 34,757 (6,280) 28,477

0 (38) (38) 0 (70) (70)

13,635 0 13,635 12,604 (107) 12,497

0 (34,521) (34,521) 0 (34,066) (34,066)

2,359 6,838

(1,131) (1,252)

75,371 1,441

74,240 189

76,599 7,027

2016/17 2017/18

Taxation and non-specific grant income and 

expenditure (Note 14)

Financing and investment income and 

expenditure (Note 13)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

Other operating expenditure (Note 12)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Deficit on the provision of services

Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and 

Equipment assets (Note 24)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 

(Note 24)

Other Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

General Fund 

Balance

Earmarked General Fund 

Reserves

Total Usable 

Reserves Unusable Reserves Total CFA Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2,371 7,029 9,400 (343,737) (334,337)

(2,359) 0 (2,359) 0 (2,359)

0 0 0 1,131 1,131

0 0 0 (75,371) (75,371)

0 0 0 (74,240) (74,240)

(2,359) 0 (2,359) (74,240) (76,599)

6,232 0 6,232 (6,232) 0

3,873 0 3,873 (80,472) (76,599)

(2,561) 2,561 0 0 0

1,312 2,561 3,873 (80,472) (76,599)

3,683 9,590 13,273 (424,209) (410,936)

(6,838) 0 (6,838) 0 (6,838)

0 0 0 1,252 1,252

0 0 0 (1,441) (1,441)

0 0 0 (189) (189)

(6,838) 0 (6,838) (189) (7,027)

6,827 0 6,827 (6,827) 0

(11) 0 (11) (7,016) (7,027)

(2,009) 2,009 0 0 0

(2,020) 2,009 (11) (7,016) (7,027)

1,663 11,599 13,262 (431,225) (417,963)

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 

regulations (Note 10)

Net Increase before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves

Balance as at the 31
st

 March 2016

Deficit on the provision of services

Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment assets 

(Note 24)

Actuarial gain on pension assets/liabilities (Note 24)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure:

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment assets 

(Note 24)

Actuarial loss on pension assets/liabilities (Note 24)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure:

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 

regulations (Note 10)

Net Increase before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves

Transfers to or from Earmarked Reserves (Note 11)

Increase/(Decrease) in 2017/18

Balance as at the 31
st

 March 2018

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

Transfers to or from Earmarked Reserves (Note 11)

Increase/(Decrease) in 2016/17

Balance as at the 31
st

 March 2017

Deficit on the provision of services
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

31
st

 March 2017 31
st

 March 2018

£000 £000

49,028 15 51,254

1 Intangible Assets 16 1

49,029 51,255

339 18 339

6,399 19 6,639

8,127 20 9,887

14,865 16,865

(875) Short Term Borrowing 17 (1,286)

(4,827) 21 (5,840)

(30) 22 (204)

(5,732) (7,330)

(17,131) 17 (15,843)

(451,642) Net Pensions Liability 24 (458,422)

(325) 22 (375)

(469,098) (474,640)

(410,936) (413,850)

3,683 General Fund 1,663

9,590 11 11,599

13,273 13,262

(451,642) 24 (461,951)

10,381 24 11,633

16,915 24 19,295

373 24 63

(236) 24 (265)

(424,209) (431,225)

(410,936) (417,963)

The financial statements on pages 12 to 52 were authorised for issue on the
 
25

th
 July 2018 by the Treasurer of the Combined Fire Authority.

Represented by:

Earmarked General Fund Reserves

Total Usable Reserves

Pension Reserve

Revaluation Reserve

Capital Adjustment Account

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

Accumulated Absences Account

Total Reserves

Total Unusable Reserves

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Note

BALANCE SHEET 

The notes on pages 16 to 52 form part of the financial statements.

Short Term Creditors

Short Term Provisions

Current Liabilities 

Long Term Borrowing

Long Term Provisions

Long Term Liabilities 

Inventories

Short Term Debtors

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Current Assets

Net Liabilities

Long Term Assets
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

£000 £000 £000 £000

2,359 6,838

(7,591) (9,203)

(45) 0

(5,277) (2,365)

353 (272)

812 877

(4,112) (1,760)

4,015 8,127

8,127 9,887

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 

the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

year (Note 20)

2016/17

Investing Activities (Note 26)

Financing Activities (Note 27)

Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents

Adjustment to the net deficit on the provision of 

services for non-cash movement (Note 24)

Adjustments for items included in the net deficit 

on the provision of services that are investing and 

financing activities (Note 24)

Net cash flows from Operating Activities 

2017/18

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Net deficit on the provision of services 
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Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable 

to the 

General Fund 

Balance

Adjustments 

between the 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£000 £000 £000

Fire Authority 28,150           (4,680) 23,470                

Net Cost of Services 28,150           (4,680) 23,470                

Other Income and Expenditure (32,023) 10,912 (21,111)

(Surplus) or Deficit (3,873) 6,232 2,359

Opening General Fund (9,400)

(Surplus) or Deficit on General Fund in Year (3,873)

Closing General Fund (13,273)

Net 

Expenditure 

Chargeable 

to the 

General Fund 

Balance

Adjustments 

between the 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net Expenditure 

in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£000 £000 £000

Fire Authority 29,148 (1,241) 27,907

Net Cost of Services 29,148 (1,241) 27,907

Other Income and Expenditure (29,722) 8,069 (21,653)

(Surplus) or Deficit (574) 6,828 6,254

Opening General Fund (13,273)

(Surplus) or Deficit on General Fund in Year (574)

Closing General Fund (13,847)

2

2.1

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2017-18

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2016-17

Accounting Policies

General principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the CFA's transactions for the 2017/18 financial year and its 

position at the year-end of the 31
st
 March 2018. The CFA is required to prepare an annual Statement of 

Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which those regulations require to be prepared in 

accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices under Section 21 of the 2003 Act primarily 

comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, as 

applicable to Fire Authorities and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2017/18 (SeRCOP), supported 

by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by 

the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 

All figures in the Statement have been rounded to the nearest £1,000, which may result in some rounding 

errors.

16



Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Combined Fire Authority

2.2

2.3

2.4 Prior Year Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

Prior year adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or the need to correct a 

material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and 

future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 

change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and 

conditions on the CFA's financial position or financial performance.  

Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 

balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.  

Material errors discovered in prior period are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances 

and comparative amounts for the prior period.

Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as 

expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made.

Where revenue or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or 

creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the 

balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be 

collected.

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and form an integral part of the CFA's cash management. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the CFA transfers the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with 

the transaction will flow to the CFA.

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the CFA can measure reliably the percentage 

of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated 

with the transaction will flow to the CFA.

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. Where there is a gap between the date 

supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on 

notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three 

months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 

insignificant risk of change in value.

Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income 

and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than 

the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 

received.  
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2.5

2.6

2.7

(i)

(ii)

Services and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-

current assets during the year:

Employee Benefits

The CFA is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or 

amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction 

in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the 

CFA in accordance with statutory guidance. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and 

amortisation are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance (Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP) or the Statutory Repayment of Loans Fund Advances), by way of an adjusting 

transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the MIRS for the difference between the two.

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-end.  They 

include wages, salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. 

provided cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 

employees render service to the CFA. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form 

of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees 

can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable 

in the following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is 

charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the MIRS so 

that holiday entitlements are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 

Benefits Payable During Employment

Billing authorities act as agents, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) on behalf of the 

major preceptors (including government for NDR) and, as principals, collecting NDR and council tax for 

themselves.  Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e. the Collection 

Fund) for the collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR.  Under the 

legislative framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities, major preceptors and central government 

share proportionately the risks and rewards that the amount of council tax and NDR collected could be 

less or more than predicted.

Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates

Accounting for Council Tax and NDR

The council tax and NDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

(CIES) is the CFA's share of accrued income for the year.  However, regulations determine the amount of 

council tax and NDR that must be included in the CFA's General Fund.  Therefore, the difference between 

the income included in the CIES and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund 

is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in 

Reserves Statement (MIRS).

The Balance Sheet includes the CFA's share of the year end balances in respect of council tax and NDR 

relating to arrears, impairment allowances for doubtful debts, overpayments and prepayments and 

appeals.

~ depreciation attributable to the assets used 

~ revaluation and impairment losses on assets where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation 

Reserve against which the losses can be written off

~ amortisation of intangible assets.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the CFA to terminate an officer's 

employment before the normal retirement date or an officer's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 

exchange for those benefits. These costs are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service 

segment at the earlier of when the CFA can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the 

CFA recognises costs for a restructuring. Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of 

pensions, the General Fund Balance is required to be charged with the amount payable by the CFA to the 

pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 

standards.  In the MIRS, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the 

notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for 

the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year 

end.

Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets
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(iii)

 - quoted securities - current bid price

 - unquoted securities - professional estimate

 - unitised securities - current bid price

 - property - market value

The assets of the LGPS attributable to the CFA are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:

The liabilities attributable to the CFA are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the 

projected unit method - i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to 

retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 

turnover rates etc, and projections of earnings for current employees.

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 2.70% for the LGPS and 

2.55% for the Firefighter's schemes.

The change in the pensions asset/liability is analysed into the following components:

Service cost comprising:

  -  current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year - 

allocated in the CIES to the services for which the employees worked

  -  past service costs - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose 

effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years - debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 

of Services in the CIES as part of Non Distributed Costs

  -  net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) - i.e. net interest expense for the CFA - the 

change during the year in the net defined liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time charged to 

the Financing and Investment  Income and Expenditure line of the CIES - this is calculated by applying 

the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period - taking into account any changes in the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

Remeasurements comprising:    

   - the return on plan assets - excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) 

   - charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

   - actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not 

coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated 

their assumptions - charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

Contributions paid to the pension funds 

   - cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities: not accounted for 

as an expense.

Post-employment Benefits

Employees of the CFA are members of one of five pension schemes, all of which are accounted for as 

defined benefits schemes.

   - The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), for which Hymans Robertson calculate the liability 

as at the 31
st
 March 2018 and which Leicestershire County Council administer.

  -  Four Firefighters' pension schemes, for which the Government Actuary's Department (GAD) calculate 

the liability:

  -  The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 1992

  -  The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2006

  -  The Firefighters' Pension Scheme 2015

  -  The Firefighters' Injury Benefit Scheme

These schemes do not have the usual type of pension fund found in the private sector which uses 

investments to help meet scheme liabilities.  The CFA is required to maintain a Firefighters' pension fund 

which:

    ~ receives employee and employer contributions and transfer values from other schemes, and

    ~ pays out benefits and transfer values to other schemes.

The CFA does not have the power to invest assets in the Firefighters' pension scheme as would normally 

be the case with a pension fund.  If the fund has insufficient money to meet all of its pension liabilities, the 

Secretary of State will make up the shortfall; if the fund is in surplus, the Secretary of State will take the 

excess to cover any shortfall in the funds of other Authorities. 
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(iv)

2.8

2.9

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged 

with the amount payable by the CFA to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the 

amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the MIRS, this means that there are 

transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement 

benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such 

amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve 

thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement 

benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Financial Assets

Loans And Receivables

Loans and receivables (assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in an active 

market) are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the CFA becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently 

measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure line in the CIES for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset 

multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  For most of the investments that the CFA 

has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal 

receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for the year 

in the loan agreement. The amortised cost will include any interest accrued and not received as at the 

Balance Sheet date.  Where the interest is fixed for the term of the investment then the actual interest rate 

has been used to calculate interest receivable as this is the same as the effective interest rate.  There are 

no transaction costs relating to investments.  Annual credits to the Financing and Income and Expenditure 

line in the CIES for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset, multiplied by the 

effective rate of interest for the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented gross in the Statement of Accounts, unless the CFA 

has a legal right to set off the amounts in which case the gross amounts are disclosed in a note.

The CFA also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of 

early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are 

accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are 

applied to the LGPS scheme.

Discretionary Benefits

Events After the Reporting Period

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 

between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 

issue.  Two types of events can be identified:

 - those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period - the Statement 

of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events

- those indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period - the Statement of Accounts is not 

adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is 

made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 

Accounts.

Financial Instruments

Financial Liabilities  

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the CFA becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at 

their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 

CIES for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate 

of interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. 

For most of the borrowings that the CFA has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet 

is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to the CIES is the 

amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
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2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

Government Grants and Contributions

Inventories

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions 

and donations are recognised as due to the CFA when there is reasonable assurance that:

 - the CFA will comply with the conditions attached to payments, and

 - the monies will be received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the CFA are not credited to the CIES until conditions attached to the grant 

or contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic 

benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant or contribution are required to 

be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be 

returned to the transferor. 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 

the Balance Sheet as creditors.  Where conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the 

relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant 

Income and Expenditure (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CIES. 

Where capital grants are credited to the CIES, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 

MIRS.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 

Grants Unapplied reserve.  Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  

Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once 

they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

Intangible Assets

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the CFA 

as a result of past events, e.g. software licences, is capitalised when it is expected that future economic 

benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the CFA.  

Intangible assets with an original cost in excess of £10k are measured initially at cost.  Amounts are only 

revalued where the fair value of the assets held by the CFA can be determined by reference to an active 

market.  In practice, no intangible asset held by the CFA meets this criterion, and they are therefore 

carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life 

to the relevant service line in the CIES.  An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication 

that the asset might be impaired - any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line in the 

CIES.  

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 

amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the 

General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in 

the MIRS and posted to the CAA and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10k) the Capital Receipts 

Reserve.

The CFA has an interest in Forge Health Limited that has the status of a wholly owned subsidiary.   An 

annual review in accordance with paragraph 9.1.1.6 of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 has been undertaken and it is considered that this interest is 

not material therefore Group Accounts are not prepared.  The income, expenditure, assets and liabilities 

of Forge Health Limited are not included in the main statements of the CFA.  Note 28 gives details.

There are no interests in associates and jointly controlled entities.

Interests in Companies and Other Entities

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of 

inventories is assigned using the first in, first out (FIFO) costing formula. 

Joint Operations

Joint Operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. The activities undertaken 

by the authority in conjunction with other joint operators involve the use of the assets and resources of 

those joint operators. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the authority as a joint operator 

recognises:

• its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly

• its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly

• its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation

• its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation

• its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
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2.15

CFA as Lessor

CFA as Lessee

2.16

2.17

Recognition

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All 

other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately 

for classification.

Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for 

payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use 

of specific assets.

Finance Leases

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 

commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value of the 

minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to 

pay the lessor. 

Lease payments are apportioned between;

 - a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment - applied to write down the 

lease liability, and

 - a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES).

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies 

applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is 

shorter than the asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the CFA 

at the end of the lease period).

The CFA is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses 

arising on leased assets.  Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the 

deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements.  Depreciation and revaluation and 

impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by 

way of an adjusting transaction with the CAA in the MIRS for the difference between the two.

Operating Leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the CIES as an expense of the services benefitting 

from use of the leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the 

life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the 

commencement of the lease).

An agreement remains under negotiation with East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) for occupation 

of an area within Headquarters.  An accrual has been made for the estimated income from mid-

September 2015.  There is an expectation that further arrangements of this type with other blue light 

services are likely to be considered as part of the estate review, in light of the Home Office duty to 

collaborate agenda.

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to services in accordance with the CFA's 

arrangements for accountability and financial performance.

Assets that have a physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services, for rental to 

others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial 

year are classified as property, plant and equipment. 

Overheads and Support Services

Property, Plant and Equipment

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property, plant and equipment is capitalised 

on an accruals basis, provided it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the item will flow to the CFA and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  

Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future economic benefits or 

service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) or is under a £5k de-minimus limit is charged as an 

expense when it is incurred.  
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Measurement

Impairment

 - any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management

The CFA does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.                                      

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the acquisition 

does not have commercial substance (ie it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of the authortiy). In 

the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying 

amount of the asset given up by the CFA.

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:

 - offices and workshops - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its 

existing use

 - fire stations - due to the specialised nature of the asset existing use value (EUV) cannot be assessed 

so it is held at depreciated replacement cost (DRC)

 - assets under construction - depreciated historical cost

 - all other assets - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset under EUV.

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 

depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value.

Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost 

basis is used as a proxy for current value.

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued annually. The latest valuation exercise 

was carried out by Cameron Butler BLE (Hons) MRICS of FHP Property Consultants. The asset values 

used in the accounts are based on a certificate issued by FHP Property Consultants on all properties as 

at the 31
st 

March 2018. Additions which are still under construction are included in the accounts at cost. 

Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

 - the purchase price

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 

asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

 - where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)

 - where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of 

the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the CIES.

Where an impairment is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in 

the CIES, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if 

the loss had not been recognised.

 - where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 

amount of the asset  is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)

 - where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of 

the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the CIES.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1st April 2007 only, the date of its 

formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the CAA.
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Depreciation

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The 

asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair 

value less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is 

posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to 

the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  

Depreciation is not charged on assets held for sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale, they are reclassified back to 

non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for 

sale, adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they 

not been classified as held for sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

Assets that are abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as assets held for sale.

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet 

(whether property, plant and equipment or assets held for sale) is written off to the Other Operating 

Expenditure line in the CIES as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts from disposals (if any) are 

credited to the same line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 

carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in 

the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the CAA.

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. The balance of 

receipts remains within the Capital Receipt Reserve, and can then be used for new capital investment, or 

set aside to reduce the underlying need to borrow (the CFR).  Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve 

from the General Fund Balance in the MIRS.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is 

fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the 

CAA from the General Fund Balance in the MIRS.

Depreciation is provided for on all property, plant and equipment assets by the systematic allocation of 

their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception is made for assets without a determinable 

finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 

construction).

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:

 - buildings - straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer.

 - vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment - a percentage of the value of each asset in the Balance sheet, 

as advised by a suitably qualified officer

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has a major component whose cost is significant 

in relation to the total cost of the item and the significant life is different, the components are depreciated 

separately.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 

depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 

historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the CAA.

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale
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2.18

(i) Provisions

(ii)

(iii)

2.19

2.20

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 

`

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset whose 

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 

within the entity's control.  

Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are made when an event has taken place that gives the CFA a legal or constructive obligation 

that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economics benefits or service potential,  and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

For instance, the CFA may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a 

settlement or the payment of compensation. 

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the CIES when the CFA has an 

obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.  

Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year - where it becomes less probable 

that a transfer of economic benefits will occur (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the 

provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another 

party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is 

virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the authority settles the obligation.

The CFA holds an insurance provision to cover the cost of known or likely claims relating to past events 

where it is anticipated that payment is likely to be made and also a provision in respect of possible further 

increase of the Firefighters pay settlement for July 2017, on which discussions are still ongoing.  

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 

instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for 

the CFA – these reserves are explained in note 24.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where 

it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty's 

Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

The CFA sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. 

Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to 

be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score 

against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CIES. The reserve is then transferred 

back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure.

Reserves

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Contingent Assets

Value Added Tax (VAT)

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the authority.  Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 

provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 

required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
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3 Accounting Standards  Issued but not yet Adopted

For 2017/18 the following accounting policy changes that need to be reported relate to:

~ 

~ 

~ Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

~ Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative.

4

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

c)  that no contracts held by the CFA hold embedded leases 

  

a)  There is a high degree of uncertainty about future funding levels for local government.  However the CFA 

has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the CFA 

might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 2, the CFA has had to make certain judgements about 

complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The critical judgements made in the 

Statement of Accounts are: 

b)  the relationship with Forge Health Limited is treated as a wholly owned subsidiary in accordance with the 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.  As the interests are not 

considered material, group accounts are not presented

d)  that no major legal claims are in progress which could result in claims of a material value by or from the 

CFA.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers including amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
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5

6

7

If the useful life of assets is 

reduced, depreciation increases 

and the carrying amount of the 

asset falls. 

It is estimated that the annual 

depreciation charge for buildings 

would increase by £46k for every 

year that useful lives had to be 

reduced.

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the CFA about 

the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current 

trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual 

results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

Description of uncertainty 

At the 31
st
 March 2018, the CFA had a 

balance of sundry debtors of £164k. There is 

a balances of just under £1k over 121 days 

outstanding. There was also a balance of 

£52k relating to retained firefighter pension 

buy-backs. These are all over 121 days 

outstanding as the employees concerned 

have been given a longer timescale to repay.  

Due to the terms of the buy-back, it is not 

anticipated that any of these debts will 

become irrecoverable.

There are no material items of income and expenditure other than those disclosed elsewhere in these 

statements.

Potential effect if results differ 

from assumption

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions 

depends on a number of complex judgements 

by the actuary relating to the discount rate 

used, the rate at which salaries are projected 

to increase, changes in retirement rates, 

mortality rates and expected returns on 

pension fund assets. On behalf of the CFA, 

the Local Government Pension Scheme 

employs the Actuary, Hymans Robertson, and 

the Firefighter's Pension Schemes are valued 

by Government Actuary's Department (GAD). 

These actuaries provide expert advice on 

assumptions to be applied.  

There were no events to report between 1/4/18 and 25/7/18

Assumptions about the Future and other Major Sources of Uncertainty 

Property, Plant and Equipment

The items in the CFA's Balance Sheet at the 31
st
 March 2018 for which there is a significant risk of material 

adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

Heading 
Assets are depreciated over useful lives that 

are dependant on assumptions about the 

level of repairs and maintenance that will be 

incurred in relation to individual assets. The 

current economic climate makes it uncertain 

that the CFA will be able to sustain its current 

spending on repairs and maintenance, 

bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned 

to assets.

The effects in the net pensions 

liability of changes in the individual 

assumptions can be measured. For 

instance a 0.5% increase in the 

discount rate assumption would 

result in an decrease in the 

pension liability of £46,910k 

(£4,910k LGPS and £42,000k 

Firefighters schemes). 

However, the assumptions interact 

in complex ways.  During 2017/18, 

the CFA's actuaries advised that 

the net pensions liability had 

decreased by £3,209k as a result 

of estimates being corrected as a 

result of experience and increased 

by £11,851k attributable to 

updating of the assumptions.

Events after the Reporting Period 

Arrears If all debt over 121 days were to be 

irrecoverable, there would be 

minimal effect to the CFA CIES.  

All funds currently outstanding 

relate to the firefighters pensions 

scheme which are collected then 

passed on to the Home Office as 

part of the firefighters pension 

account settlement.

Material Items of Income and Expense

Pension Liability
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8

Adjustment for 

Capital 

Purposes (i)

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(ii)

Other Differences 

(iii)

Total 

Adjustments 

£000 £000 £000 £000

1,284 (5,946) (18) (4,680)

(1,942) 12,994 (140) 10,912 

(658) 7,048 (158) 6,232 

Adjustment for 

Capital 

Purposes (i)

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(ii)

Other Differences 

(iii)

Total 

Adjustments 

£000 £000 £000 £000

1,775 (3,046) 29 (1,242)

(4,155) 11,914 310 8,069 

(2,380) 8,868 339 6,827 

(i)

(ii)

Other Income and Expenditure from the Expenditure and 

Funding Analysis

Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and expenditure Statement Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services

Adjustments for Capital Purposes 

Fire Authority - Net Cost of Services

 - For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the authority 

as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service costs.

 - For Financing and investment income and expenditure - the net interest on the defined benefit 

liability is charged to the CIES.

 - Other operating expenditure - adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of 

assets and the amounts written off for those assets.

This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 

services line, and for:

Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement amounts

 - Financing and investment income and expenditure - the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. 

Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and 

expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.

 - Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure - capital grants are adjusted for income 

not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.  Revenue grants are adjusted from those 

receivable in the year to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied 

throughout the year.  The Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is credited with 

capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year.  

i) Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement amounts

Fire Authority - Net Cost of Services

Other Income and Expenditure from the Expenditure and 

Funding Analysis

Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and expenditure Statement Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis 

2016/17

Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis 

2017/18

This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 

services line, and:
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(iii)

8

2016/17 2017/18

Income from 

Services

Income from 

Services

£000 £000

(1,073) (829)

9

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

31,937 34,905

5,434 5,901

1,529 2,059

731 676

39,631 43,541 

(1,073) (829)

(90) (103)

(27,492) (28,457)

(38) (70)

(8,579) (7,244)

(37,272) (36,703)

2,359 6,838

Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature

Expenditure

Employee benefits and expenses

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

Fire Service Total Income

ii) Segmental Income

Income received on a segmental basis is analysed below:

Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the CIES and amounts payable/receivable to be 

recognised under statute:

Other services expenses

Services

 - For Financing and investment income and expenditure  - the other differences column recognises 

adjustments to the General Fund for the timing differences for premiums and discounts.

 - The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the 

difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NDR that was 

projected to be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally accepted 

accounting practices in the Code.  This is a timing difference as any difference will be brought forward in 

future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund.

Total expenditure

Income 

The CFA's expenditure and income is analysed as follows:

Interest payments

Fees, charges and other service income

Total income

Other Differences

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment

Interest and investment income

Income from council tax and non-domestic rates

Gain on the disposal of assets

Government grants and contributions
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2016/17 2017/18

Usable Reserves 

- General Fund 

Balance 

Usable 

Reserves - 

General Fund 

Balance 

£000 £000

Pensions costs (transfers to or (from) the Pension Reserve) (7,048) (8,868)

Council Tax and NDR (transfers to or (from) the Collection Fund) 140 (310)

Holiday Pay (transfers to or (from) the Accumulated Absences Reserve) 18 (29)

(1,272) (1,765)

(8,162) (10,972)

(12) (10)

1,449 1,421

388 1,738

1,825 3,149

58 139

46 857

1 0

105 996

(6,232) (6,827)

Contribution from Police and Crime Commissioner towards Coalville extension project

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the Capital Adjustment 

Account)

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are different from revenue for 

the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements 

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 

relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment 

Account)

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Total Adjustments to Revenue Reserves

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised 

by the CFA in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that are specified by 

statutory provisions as being available to the CFA to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from the Capital Adjustment 

Account)

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations

Transfer of non-current assets sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts 

Reserve

General Fund Balance

The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to be paid and out 

of which all liabilities of the authority are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide 

otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact on 

the General Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  The 

General Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that the CFA is statutorily empowered to spend on 

its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the CFA is required to recover) at the end 

of the financial year.

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Total Adjustments
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11 Movements in Earmarked Reserves 

Balance at 1
st 

April 2016

Transfers out 

2016/17

Transfers in 

2016/17

Balance at 31
st 

March 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

157 29 0 128

40 0 0 40

968 862 0 106

152 0 0 152

15 0 0 15

70 0 0 70

201 0 0 201

82 82 0 0

75 0 0 75

150 0 0 150

3,185 3,185 0 0

114 114 0 0

1,320 74 2,908 4,154

Capital fund reserve 500 285 3,626 3,841

Business Rates relief reserve 0 0 187 187

0 29 500 471

7,029 4,660 7,221 9,590

(2,561)

Balance at 1
st 

April 2017

Transfers out 

2017/18

Transfers in 

2017/18

Balance at 31
st 

March 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

128 28 72 172

40 11 0 29

106 106 0 0

152 0 0 152

15 0 0 15

70 70 0 0

201 201 0 0

0 0 0 0

75 75 0 0

150 0 177 327

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

4,154 6,138 2,274 290

Capital fund reserve 3,841 2,138 2,838 4,541

Business Rates relief reserve 187 187 0 0

Estates Strategy reserve 0 0 5,673 5,673

Recruitment over-establishment reserve 0 0 400 400

471 471 0 0

9,590 9,425 11,434 11,599

(2,009)

12 Other Operating Expenditure

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(38) (70)

Net Movement

Over-establishment reserve

TOTAL 

III health retirement reserve 

Net Movement

(Gain) or loss on the disposal of non-current assets

Insurance reserve

Motor insurance reserve

TOTAL 

Single control room reserve

IRMP redundancy reserve 

Single control room reserve

Mutual insurance reserve 

IRMP redundancy reserve 

Relocation reserve

Management of change reserve

Occupational Health reserve 

Purchased vehicle reserve

Cars and light vans reserve

Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme 

reserve

III health retirement reserve 

Relocation reserve

Motor insurance reserve

Insurance reserve

Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme 

reserve

Management of change reserve

Cars and light vans reserve

Over-establishment reserve

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide financing for 

future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund 

expenditure in the period 2016 to 2018.

Mutual insurance reserve 

Part time workers reserve 

Purchased vehicle reserve

Occupational Health reserve 

Part time workers reserve 
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13

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

731 676

12,994 11,928

(56) (61)

(34) (46)

13,635 12,497

14

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(19,104) (19,864)

(8,248) (8,593)

(7,168) (5,609)

(1) 0

(34,521) (34,066)

15

Land and 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant and 

Equipment

Assets under 

Construction

Total Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment

£000 £000 £000 £000

40,098 19,959 1,685 61,742

59 279 155 493

1,396 0 0 1,396

(82) 0 0 (82)

(10) (300) 0 (310)

(754) 155 599 0

40,707 20,093 2,439 63,239

0 13,056 0 13,056

(918) 0 0 (918)

939 1,423 0 2,362

(1) (288) 0 (289)

20 14,191 0 14,211

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Movements in 2016/17

TOTAL

Non-ring fenced government grants 

Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve

Derecognition - disposals

Derecognition - disposals

As at 1
st
 April 2015

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve

As at 31
st

 March 2017

Capital grants and contributions

Council tax income

Non domestic rates income and expenditure

Additions

As at 1
st
 April 2016

Interest receivable 

Interest payable and similar charges

Net interest on the defined benefit liability 

Dividend received

Cost or Valuation

Transfers (to)/from In Construction

As at 31
st

 March 2017

Revaluation decreases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

TOTAL

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure
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Land and 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant and 

Equipment

Assets under 

Construction

Total Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment

£000 £000 £000 £000

40,707 20,093 2,439 63,239

1,025 1,299 425 2,749

1,567 0 0 1,567

(584) 0 0 (584)

(69) (896) 0 (965)

(316) 33 283 0

42,330 20,529 3,147 66,006

20 14,191 0 14,211

(978) 0 0 (978)

1,001 1,414 0 2,415

0 (896) 0 (896)

43 14,709 0 14,752

40,687 5,902 2,439 49,028

42,287 5,820 3,147 51,254

    

16

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

136 136

136 136

133 135

2 0

135 135

Net Book value 1 1

The following useful lives have been used in the calculation of depreciation:

 - Land and Buildings - 5-60 years

 - Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment - 5-15 years

As at 1
st
 April 2017

at 31
st
 March 2017

As at 31
st

 March 2018

Derecognition - disposals

The CFA accounts for software licences as intangible assets, to the extent that these are part of particular IT 

systems.  The CFA's intangible assets are amortised over 5 years on a straight line basis.

Cost or Valuation

As at 1
st
 April 2017

Cost or Valuation

Movements in 2017/18

Net Book value:

Capital Commitments

Depreciation

Asset remaining lives have been reviewed and no alterations have been considered necessary for these 

accounts. 

A total amount of £2,511k is currently contracted and is mainly related to the Tri-Service Fire Control Project, 

the works at Lutterworth and Wigston stations and IT improvements. These commitments are expected to be 

paid in 2017/18. 

Intangible Assets 

at 31
st
 March 2018

As at 1
st
 April 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Transfers (to)/from In Construction

Additions

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Derecognition - disposals

Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve

Amortisation charged to the surplus/deficit on the provision of 

services

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

As at 31
st

 March 

As at 31
st

 March 2018

Revaluation decreases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve

As at 1
st 

April

As at 31
st 

March 

Amortisation Charge for Year:

As at the 31
st
 March 2018 there are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets. 
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Included in: Long-Term Short-Term Long-Term Short-Term

£000 £000 £000 £000

 - Cash and Cash Equivalents

Bank balance 0 8,127 0 9,887

 - Debtors

Financial assets carried at contract cost 0 3,204 0 3,275

TOTAL ASSETS 0 11,331 0 13,162

 - Borrowings

Financial liabilities (i.e. borrowings) at amortised cost (14,478) 0 (13,978) (500)

 - Creditors

Financial liabilities carried at contract amount 0 (2,154) 0 (3,155)

 - Other Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities (2,653) (875) (1,865) (786)

TOTAL LIABILITIES (17,131) (3,029) (15,843) (4,441)

NET TOTAL (17,131) 8,302 (15,843) 8,721

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

Between 1 and 2 years (1,922) (1,178)

Between 2 and 5 years (2,954) (3,454)

Between 5 and 10 years (4,708) (3,664)

Over 10 years (7,547) (7,547)

TOTAL (17,131) (15,843)

~ Investments; short term - carrying amounts in the Balance Sheet approximate to fair value.

31
st

 March 2017

Any surplus or overdrawn cash balances remaining on a daily basis are included in the CFA's treasury 

management activities. Funds are currently invested in short-term deposits with Leicester City Council and a 

limited range of banks in accordance with the CFA's Treasury Management policy. Investments are carried at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value.  A cash deposit is considered to be an investment, rather than cash 

and cash equivalent, where the interest rate achieved is above the bank base rate and the deposit is placed 

primarily for the purposes of earning interest income.

The following categories of financial instruments are carried in the Balance Sheet:

b) Maturity of Long-Term Borrowings and Other Liabilities

31
st

 March 2018

~ For finance leases, the fair value is not significantly different from the carrying amount, because most of the 

loans commenced in the recent past and interest rates at the Balance Sheet date for these types of investments 

were not materially different. 

~ PWLB debt; estimated interest rates at the 31
st
 March 2018 for new debt with the same maturity date from 

comparable lenders.

Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by borrowings and investments are carried in the balance 

sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that 

will take place over the remaining term of the instruments, using the following assumptions: 

Financial Instruments

PWLB interest of £141k (2016/17 £141k) has been accrued in the accounts but not included in short term 

borrowing. 

a) Categories of Financial Instruments
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Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

Amount Value Amount Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities 20,160 23,966 20,284 24,028

Financial Assets 11,331 11,333 13,162 13,164

18 Inventories

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

182 233

64 66

93 40

339 339

19 Debtors 

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

3,195 3,364

1,470 1,552

1,734 1,723

6,399 6,639

20 Cash and Cash Equivalents

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

2 1

0 103

8,125 9,783

8,127 9,887

21 Creditors

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

2,673 2,685

829 1,245

1,325 1,910

4,827 5,840

 - Cash held by the CFA

Other local authorities

Operational equipment 

Other 

TOTAL

TOTAL

TOTAL

 - Short-term investments

TOTAL

Vehicle parts

The fair values calculated are as follows: 

Central government bodies

The fair value of PWLB loans (£18,222k) measures the economic effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB 

compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for market transactions undertaken at the Balance 

Sheet date. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value measures the additional interest that 

the authority will pay over the remaining terms of the loans under the agreements with the PWLB, against what 

would be paid if the loans were at prevailing market rates. 

31
st

 March 201831
st

 March 2017

 - Other local authorities

Short-Term Debtors:

 - Central government bodies

 - Bank current accounts

 - All other

All other

Trade and other creditors are shown at amortised cost. There is no fair value adjustment to be made. 

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements:

Inventory valued at £368k (£322k 2016/17) was utilised in 2017/18. 
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22

Balance as at 

1
st 

April 

2017

Reduced 

provision in 

2017/18

Increased 

provision in 

2017/18

Amounts used 

in 2017/18

Balance as at 

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Long Term Provision

Business Rates provision 325 0 50 0 375

Total Long Term Provision 325 0 50 0 375

Short Term Provision

Insurance provision 30 0 28 2 56

0 0 148 0 148

Total Short Term Provision 30 0 176 2 204

23

24

31
st

 March 

2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

(451,642) (458,422)

10,381 11,633

16,915 19,295

373 63

(236) (265)

(424,209) (427,696)

Capital Reserves

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1st April 9,250 10,381

Upward revaluation of assets 1,417 1,708

(21) (93)

1,396 1,615

(8) (69)

(257) (294)

Balance at 31
st

 March 10,381 11,633

Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation 

A provision has also been established in the current year in respect of the uncertainty surrounding the 

firefighters pay award.  1% has been paid as at 1st July 2017, but discussions are ongoing as to whether a 

further payment will be made.  It seems likely that this would be a further 1% therefore the sum of £148k has 

been provided, as 1% of the relevant payroll.

Usable Reserves 

Provisions

17-18 pay award provision

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

Movement in the CFA's usable reserves are detailed in the MIRS.

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

A provision is also made for the CFA's share of any defaults on business rates.  This is calculated by the district 

councils based on their experience.

Capital Adjustment Account

Unusable Reserves 

Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the CFA arising from increases in the value of its 

Property, Plant, and Equipment.  The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:

 - revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost

 - used on the provision of service and the gains are consumed through depreciations, or

 - disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since the 1
st
 April 2007, the date that a reserve was 

created with a balance of zero.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on 

the CAA.

Revaluation Reserve

Pensions Reserve

Revaluation Reserve

The CFA holds an insurance provision for claims in progress. Timing of payment of these claims is difficult to 

predict as they may be subject to legal process. The amounts put aside are decided upon by reviewing the 

current level of claims and assessing the likelihood of their success. There are currently no material unfunded 

risks. Income to this provision is from reserves currently held for this purpose, so has no impact on the CIES. 

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

TOTAL

In accordance with standard accounting practice, two non cash-backed capital reserves exist. These are:

Accumulated Absences Account

Movements in provisions are as follows: 
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Capital Adjustment Account 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

16,257 16,915

(2,362) (2,415)

(2) 0

835 356

(1,529) (2,059)

Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation 257 294

(12) (10)

1 0

46 857

1,449 1,421

58 139

388 1,738

Balance at 31
st

 March 16,915 19,295

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1
st

 April (369,223) (451,642)

(75,371) (1,441)

(12,994) (11,914)

5,946 3,046

(451,642) (461,951)

Pensions Reserve

Revaluation differences on Property, Plant and Equipment

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for 

post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The CFA accounts 

for post-employment benefits in the CIES as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, 

updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 

resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed 

as the CFA makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is 

directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the 

benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the CFA has set aside to meet them. The 

statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be 

paid. 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the surplus/deficit on the 

provision of services in the CIES

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against the general fund

Contribution from Police and Crime Commissioner  towards Coalville extension project

Amortisation of intangible assets

Pensions Reserve

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability debited or credited to other comprehensive 

income and expenditure in the CIES

Capital expenditure charged against the general fund balance

Disposal of assets

Capital grants credited to CIES that have been applied to capital financing

Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year 

Balance at 31
st

 March 

Balance at 1
st

 April 

Use of Capital Receipt

Depreciation 

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the CIES

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 

accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or additions 

to those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or 

subsequent costs as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the CIES (with 

reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The 

Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the CFA as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction 

and subsequent costs.

The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property Plant and Equipment before the 1
st 

April 

2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.

This account represents amounts set aside from revenue resources or capital receipts, which have been used 

to finance expenditure on non-current assets, or for the repayment of external loans and other capital financing 

transactions.  The table below provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the account.

Capital Adjustment Account
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Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1
st

 April 233 373

140 (310)

Balance at 31
st

 March 373 63

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1
st

 April (254) (236)

18 (29)

Balance at 31
st 

March (236) (265)

25

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(30) (46)

(53) (61)

681 676

£000 £000 £000 £000

1,529 (2,415)

835 356

(2) 0

(2,175) (629)

(1,060) 2,752

315 (224)

47 0

(7,048) (9,452)

38 70

17 0

18 29

(105) 310

(7,591) (9,203)

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(45) 0

(45) 0

Accumulated Absences Account

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements:

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing 

and financing activities:

Accumulated Absences Account

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund 

Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave 

entitlement carried forward as at the 31
st
 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General 

Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

Amount by which council tax and NDR income credited to the CIES is different from council tax 

and NDR income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

Total adjustments for items included in the net surplus or 

deficit on the provision of services that are investing and 

financing activities

Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services

Adjustments to net surplus deficit on the provisions of 

services for non cash movements Items classified 

elsewhere in the statement

Movement in pension liability

Movement in Collection Funds

Capital grant received

2017/18

Disposal of non-current assets

The cash flows from operating activities include the 

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax 

and non-domestic rates (NDR) income in the CIES as it falls due from council tax payers and business rates 

payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the 

Collection Fund. 

Amount by which the officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is different 

from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities

Interest paid 

Interest received 

Dividend received

2016/17

Increase/decrease in provisions

Increase/decrease in inventories

Movement in Accumulated Absences

Amortisation

Increase/decrease in creditors

Increase/decrease in debtors

Depreciation

Impairment and revaluation
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26

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000

411 (133)

(58) (139)

353 (272)

27

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

812 877

Net cash flow from financing activities 812 877

28

29

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

47 50

13 13

1 0

61 63

30

Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities

Trading Operations

Expenses

Officers' Remuneration

Allowances

Special Allowances

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The CFA operates a trading company named Forge Health Limited as a wholly owned subsidiary. Its main 

activity is the provision of occupational health services to the private and public sectors. The Company employs 

no members of staff but instead uses the CFA's staff (for which it pays a fee) and independent contractors to 

deliver its services. There is no non-current or intangible assets owned by the Company for the year ending 31
st 

March 2018.  For the year 2017/18, Forge Health Limited reported turnover of £227k and a post tax profit of 

£61k (£56k in 2016/17) and this sum is proposed by the Company to be wholly paid as dividend to the CFA.  

Note 34 of these accounts discloses the total transactions with Forge Health Limited and amounts due from/to 

at the year end. The accounts of the Company are completed on the same financial year basis as the CFA and 

accounting policies are aligned. The accounts of the Company are available from the Company Secretary, 

Forge Health Limited, Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, 12 Geoff Monk Way, Birstall, 

Leicester, LE4 3BU.  It is considered that the interests in Forge Health Limited are not material therefore group 

accounts are not presented. 

Members' Allowances

The CFA paid the following amounts to its members during the year:

Repayments of short term and long term borrowing

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment

Net cash flow from investing activities

TOTAL

This note comprises two parts. The first discloses the remuneration of the CFA's most senior officers. The 

second part discloses the total number of ‘higher paid’ CFA officers whose remuneration exceeded £50k during 

2017/18, shown in bands and excluding those senior officers in the first part.

Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities

Part 1 - Senior Employees’ Remuneration

The table shows the amounts paid to the holders of senior posts in 2017/18 with comparative data from 

2016/17 where applicable.

Senior employees are defined as certain statutory chief officer posts, those earning over £150k per annum and 

those earning less than this sum but reporting directly to the Chief Fire and Rescue Officer. There are two such 

officers, in 2017/18, which represents no change from 2016/17.

Remuneration in this table (as defined in statutory regulations) includes salary, fees/allowances, employer’s 

pension contributions, taxable benefits and any compensation for loss of office.
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£000 £000 £000 £000

2016/17 61 5 48 114

2017/18 96 21 0 117

2016/17 125 27 0 152

2017/18 109 24 0 133

2016/17 102 13 0 115

2017/18 102 15 0 117

2016/17 94 20 0 114

2017/18 82 18 0 100

Notes:

1 a) CFO until June 2016 b) CFO until January 2018

2 a) CFO from June 2016 b) CFO from January 2018

3) Asst CFO from July 2016

4 a) Asst CFO from July 2016 b) Asst CFO from January 2018

127 102 102

2016/17 2017/18

26 35

5 6

7 5

1 3

1 0

1 1

41 50

Director/Assistant Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 4a)

If the posts were held for the entire year, the equivalent salary for the posts would have been as follows:

The amounts shown are the true salary for that individual for the entire year, which will include previous posts if 

promotion occurred during the year.

Post

Director/Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 2a)

The threshold for inclusion in this report is defined in regulations and remains static at £50k annually. Salaries 

paid to staff include annual pay increases as and when these are awarded, increasing the scope of the report 

over time.

Remuneration 

Band £

Number of Employees

50,000 - 54,999

Chief Fire Officer (Note 1a)

Chief Fire Officer (Note 1b)

Director/Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 2b)

Director/Assistant Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 3)

Director/Assistant Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 3)

Director/Assistant Chief Fire and Rescue Officer 

(Note 4b)

55,000 - 59,999

60,000 - 64,999

65,000 - 69,999

70,000 - 74,999

75,000 - 79,999

Total

Part 2 - Higher Paid Employees

The number of other CFA employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year is shown in the 

table below. In line with the relevant regulations, the table excludes the senior officers listed in the table above.

It should be noted that the definition of remuneration in this table differs from that in the table above (in line with 

regulations) as it excludes employer’s pension contributions.

The table includes compensation for loss of office, so employees who left in the year may appear in a higher 

band than the equivalent role would appear in based on a normal year’s salary. Equally, some posts would not 

be included in the table based on a normal year’s salary, but are included because of payments for 

compensation for loss of office.
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Number of 

Packages

2016/17

Total Amount 

2016/17

Number of 

Packages

2017/18

Total Amount 

2017/18

£000 £000

5 22 0 0

5 22 0 0

7 217 1 23

1 48 0 0

1 48 0 0

31

32

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

29 29

0 (4)

29 25

33 Grant Income

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

1,153 1,274

258 307

TOTAL 1,411 1,581

External Audit Costs

Fees payable to KPMG with regard to external audit services 

carried out by the appointed auditor for the year

No Government capital grant was received in 2017/18.  A grant of £1,800k which was brought forward from 

2011/12 in respect of the replacement of fire control systems was paid to the lead authority, Derbyshire Fire and 

Rescue Service, in August 2012. £1,482k of this was spent by Derbyshire up to  2016/17. The remaining £318k 

has been treated as a creditor due to being returnable to the Home Office if unspent. The cost of this work and 

the use of the grant has been incorporated into these accounts.

Public Sector Audit Appointments refund 11/12

Termination Benefits

The CFA credited the following grants to the CIES, within Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and 

Expenditure:

TOTAL REDUNDANCIES

Section 31 Grants

The CFA terminated the contracts of 2 employees in 2017/18, incurring redundancy costs of £23k and 

termination costs of £45k (13 employees costing £287k in 2016/17).  The decision to terminate these contracts 

was made during 2017/18. There was also 1 termination of contract at a cost of £45k. There has been no 

decision during 2017/18 to terminate any further employees during 2018/19. There was £49k pension strain 

cost relating to the redundancy. 

There were no fees in respect of other services provided by KPMG during the year.

The CFA incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, statutory inspection 

and other non-audit services provided by the CFA's external auditors: 

TOTAL

Fire Revenue Grant

Section 31 grants include grants relating to business rates and transparency code set-up. 

The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies 

are set out in the table below:

Compulsory

£0 - £20,000

TOTAL COMPULSORY

Voluntary

£20,001 - £40,000

£40,001 - £60,000
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34

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

193 239

3 13

230 0

Home Office - Grant Received in Advance 1,014 1,116

459 437

(56) (61)

(175) (161)

(4) (10)

(2,954) (2,822)

Staff Secondment (18)

EMAS (55)

(1,308) (1,304)

East Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EMAS)

The CFA is entering into agreement with EMAS to share some buildings.  So far, agreements have not been 

signed but are expected to be in the near future.  All transactions with this body are shown below:

Officers 

Home Office - Pensions reimbursement

Forge Health Limited - Wholly owned subsidiary

Home Office - Pensions overpayments

Related Parties

FRIC - Insurances in advance/refund due

The Home Office has significant influence on the general operation of the CFA - it is responsible for providing 

the statutory framework within which the CFA operates, provides a large proportion of its funding in the form of 

grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the CFA has with other parties (e.g. council 

tax).  Grants received from government departments are set out in Note 14.

Leicester City Council - Local partner/Supplier of service 

Home Office - Firelink

Officers of the CFA have significant influence over the CFA's financial and operating policies.  During 2017/18, 

no works and services were commissioned from companies in which officers declared an interest.  

The CFA is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or individuals that have the 

potential to control, or to be controlled or influenced by the CFA.  Disclosures of these transactions assesses 

the extent to which the CFA might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have 

secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the CFA.

Forge Health Limited

Members

Net balance with related parties at 31
st
 March

Central Government

The CFA has control of Forge Health Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary.  Dividends received due to this 

relationship are shown below.  

Leicester City Council - Local partner/Supplier of service 

Due from 

Fire and Rescue Indemnity Company Limited

Nine fire and rescue authorities, including Leicestershire, are members of the Fire and Rescue Indemnity 

Company Limited (FRIC).  The company commenced trading in November 2015.  The CFA's risk protection 

arrangements are provided through the pooled funds of the company.  

Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council and Rutland County Council are local partners who also 

supply services to the CFA.  All transactions with these bodies are set out below:

Other Public Bodies 

Leicestershire County Council - Local partner/Supplier of 

service 

Due to: 

Members of the CFA have direct control over the CFA's financial and operating policies.  The total of members' 

allowances paid in 2017/18 is shown in note 29.  During 2017/18, no works and services were commissioned 

from companies in which members declared an interest.  

Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the CFA
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2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

544 556

44 44

309 284

EMAS 64 57

Home Office - Pensions 230

Home Office - Firelink 299 645

(47) (34)

(24) (33)

EMAS (43) (28)

(53) (56)

(1,411) (1,636)

(209) (86)

(6,961) (8,591)

(7,488) (8,648)

35

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

59 1,026

279 1,299

155 425

493 2,750

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

58 139

388 1,738

1 16

46 857

493 2,750

Local Partners

Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing

Government Grant

Net transactions with related parties for year

Wholly owned subsidiary

This includes property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (Notes 15 and 16).

General fund

Forge Health Limited

FRIC

Home Office

   Specific Grants

Income

Leicester City Council

Local Partners

Land and buildings

Assets in construction

Funding

Expenditure

Leicestershire County Council

Vehicles, plant and equipment

Leicester City Council

   Secondments

Home Office/DCLG

Details of capital expenditure incurred during the year are as follows: 

   Pensions reimbursement

Leicestershire County Council

Police Crime Commissioner

Capital receipts

The CFA had an opening capital financing requirement of £21,733k at the 1
st
 April 2017 and a closing capital 

financing requirement of £20,312k at the 31
st
 March 2018.

Capital expenditure was financed as follows:

A capital grant of £186k was received in 2008/09 for New Dimensions accommodation, however no expenditure 

was incurred in 2008/09 or 2009/10,  £1k in 2010/11 and £16k in 2017/18. A feasibility study was conducted in 

2016/17 and a location and specification agreed.  The contract for the work has gone out to tender and £16k 

has been spent in fees in 2017/18. The remainder of the grant funding is carried over into 2018/19 and is shown 

as a creditor in the accounts. 

TOTAL

Grant 

TOTAL
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36 Leases

Not later than 

1 year

Later than 1 

year and not 

later than 5 

years

Later than 5 

years

£000 £000 £000

962 2,471 357

(27) (209) (62)

935 2,262 295

862 1,843 123

(23) (147) (22)

839 1,696 101

Not later than 

1 year

Later than 1 

year and not 

later than 5 

years

Later than 5 

years

£000 £000 £000

136 252 0

132 121 0

37

(ii) Control and Support Staff

Operating lease liabilities:

Operating lease rentals paid to lessors in the year totalled £140k (2016/17 £149k). As at the 31
st
 March 2018 

the CFA has a commitment to meet the following future minimum lease payments for operating leases, all of 

which relate to cars and light vehicles:

Minimum lease payments

(i) Uniformed Firefighters 

2017/18

Present value

2017/18

Minimum lease payments

2016/17

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the reported cost of services when they are earned by 

employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  However, the charge required to be 

made against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post-employment/ 

retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the MIRS.  The following transactions have been 

made in the CIES and the general fund balance via the MIRS during the year:

The five pension schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and service and are detailed 

below: 

Employees, subject to certain qualifying criteria are eligible to join the LGPS administered by Leicestershire 

County Council. This is a funded defined benefit scheme meaning that the CFA and employees pay 

contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets. 

This is made up of four unfunded schemes which means that there are no investment assets to match with the 

liability thus cash has to be generated to meet actual pension payments as they fall due. 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the CFA makes 

contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable 

until the employees retire, the CFA has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to 

disclose them at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 

Defined Benefit Pensions Schemes 

Difference due to timing of cash flows

Present value

Participation in Pension Schemes

Minimum lease payments

Finance lease rentals paid to lessors relating to 2017/18 totalled £962k (£974k 2016/17) of which £110k was 

interest and £852k was principal. All finance leases relate to Vehicles, Plant and Equipment and the net book 

value of these assets at the 31
st
 March 2018 is £2,502k. 

Finance lease liabilities:

Minimum lease payments

2016/17

Difference due to timing of cash flows
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2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

819 1,466  

0 31

                         

334 348

1,153 1,845

(3,544) (495)

8,390 (819)

(1,785) 1

3,061 (1,313)

(1,153) (1,845)

(685) (793)

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 1992

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2006

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2015

Injury Benefit 

Scheme

Consolidated 

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Schemes

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

3,340 280 3,440 140 7,200

11,730 600 170 160 12,660

15,070 880 3,610 300 19,860

(5,330) 10 0 (970) (6,290)

69,090 7,420 2,970 740 80,220

(1,230) 170 (370) (190) (1,620)

62,530 7,600 2,600 (420) 72,310

(15,070) (880) (3,610) (300) (19,860)

(1,149) (93) (1,149) 0 (2,391)

~ net interest expense

Cost of Services

Local Government

~ other

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

~ net interest expense

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

~ past service cost

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance 

for pensions in the year:

Total Post-employment Benefit Charged to the CIES

Movement in Reserves Statement

~ actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial 

   assumptions

~ current service cost

~ other

Total Post-employment Benefit Charged to 

the CIES

~ actuarial losses arising on changes in 

   financial assumptions

Movement in Reserves Statement

2016/17

Cost of Services

Total Post-employment Benefit charged to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:

Pension Scheme

Other Post-employment Benefit Charged to the CIES

~ reversal of net charges made to the surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services for post-employment benefits in 

accordance with the Code

~ employers contributions payable to scheme

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Other Post-employment Benefit Charged to 

the CIES

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 

liability comprising:

~ actuarial gains arising on changes in 

   demographic assumptions

Actual amount charged against the General 

Fund Balance for pensions in the year:

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to 

the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure

~ reversal of net charges made to the surplus or 

deficit on the provision of services for post-

employment benefits in accordance with the 

Code

~ Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the

   net interest expense)

~ current service costs

~ employers contributions payable to scheme
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Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 1992

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2006

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2015

Injury Benefit 

Scheme

Consolidated 

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Schemes

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

3,460 200 5,180 130 8,970

10,480 670 320 110 11,580

13,940 870 5,500 240 20,550

(9,830) (570) (550) (130) (11,080) 

10,910 1,650 70 40 12,670

(1,100) (1,660) (240) (210) (3,210) 

(20) (580) (720) (300) (1,620) 

(13,940) (870) (5,500) (240) (20,550) 

957 52 1,253 0 2,262

LGPS

£000

As at 31
st
 March 2017

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 38,995

Fair value of plan assets (25,973)

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation 13,022

As at 31
st
 March 2018

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 40,398

Fair value of plan assets (27,637)

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation 12,761

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

21,323 25,973

752 681

3,544 495

681 789

220 240

4 4

(4) (4)

(547) (541)

25,973 27,637

Opening fair value of scheme assets

Interest Income

Remeasurement (gain)/loss:

The return on plan assets, excluding the amount included in the net interest 

expense

Contributions from scheme employer

Contributions from employees into the scheme

Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits

Unfunded benefits paid

Benefits paid

Closing fair value of scheme assets

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 

liability comprising:

~ actuarial gains arising on changes in 

   demographic assumptions

~ actuarial gains arising on changes in financial 

   assumptions

~ other

Total Post-employment Benefit Charged to 

the CIES

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Plan Assets - LGPS

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet - LGPS

~ reversal of net charges made to the surplus or 

deficit on the provision of services for post-

employment benefits in accordance with the 

Code
Actual amount charged against the General 

Fund Balance for pensions in the year:

~ employers contributions payable to scheme

2017/18

Cost of Services

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to 

the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

~ net interest expense

Other Post-employment Benefit Charged to 

the CIES

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

~ current service costs

Financing and Investment Income and 

Expenditure
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2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

30,737 38,911

79 84

30,816 38,995

819 1,466

1,086 1,029

220 240

8,390 (819)

(1,785) 1

0 31

(547) (541)

(4) (4)

38,995 40,398

38,911 40,316

84 82

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities - Firefighters Schemes

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 1992

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2006

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Scheme 2015

Injury Benefit 

Scheme

Consolidated 

Firefighters' 

Pension 

Schemes

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

335,110 16,940 3,220 4,460 438,620

2,400 200 2,440 140 5,180

940 80 1,000 0 2,020

(5,330) 10 0 (970) (6,290)

69,090 7,420 2,970 740 80,220

(1,230) 170 (370) (190) (1,620)

11,730 600 170 160 12,660

(12,990) (170) (10) (110) (13,280)

Closing balance at the 31
st
 March 2017 399,720 25,250 9,420 4,230 438,620

2,520 120 4,060 130 6,830

Contributions by scheme participants 940 80 1,120 0 2,140

Transfers In 30 10 0 0 40

Remeasurement gain

(9,830) (570) (550) (130) (11,080)

10,910 1,650 70 40 12,670

(1,100) (1,660) (240) (210) (3,210)

10,480 670 320 110 11,580

(11,930) (150) 0 (110) (12,190)

Closing balance at the 31
st
 March 2018 401,740 25,400 14,200 4,060 445,400

Closing balance at the 31
st
 March

Represented by:

Funded Liabilities

Unfunded Liabilities

Current service cost

Interest cost

Contributions from scheme participants

Remeasurement gain/(loss):

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions

Other experience

Past service costs

Benefits paid

Unfunded benefits paid

Funded Liabilities

Unfunded Liabilities

Opening balance at the 1
st
 April

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Plan Liabilities - LGPS

Contributions by scheme participants

Remeasurement gain

Other experience 

Finance Interest cost 

Benefits paid

Current service costs (net of employee 

contributions)

Actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions

Finance Interest cost 

Benefits paid

Actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in demographic assumptions

Actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions

Other experience 

Actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in demographic assumptions

Opening balance at the 1
st
 April 2016

Current service costs (net of employee 

contributions)
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Year ended 

31
st

 March 

2017

Year ended 

31
st

 March 

2017

Year ended 31
st 

March 2018

Year ended 31
st 

March 2018

£000 % £000 %

Cash and cash equivalents 1,659 6.0% 1,150 4.0%

Quoted prices in active markets

Equity Securities

Other 671 3.0% 671 2.0%

Bonds

UK Government 2,237 9.0% 2,307 8.0%

Other 284 1.0% 252 1.0%

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts

Equities 12,440 48.0% 13,019 47.0%

Bonds 905 3.5% 887 3.0%

Hedge Funds 867 3.0% 935 3.0%

Commodities 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Other 651 3.0% 818 3.0%

Derivatives

Interest Rate 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Foreign Exchange (12) 0.0% (81) 0.0%

Quoted prices not in active markets

Property

UK Property 2,087 8.0% 2,428 9.0%

Private Equity

All 981 4.0% 983 4.0%

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts

Bonds 1,424 5.5% 2,285 8.0%

Hedge Funds 5 0.0% 28 1.0%

Commodities 612 2.0% 648 2.0%

Infrastructure 1,162 4.0% 1,307 5.0%

Total Assets 25,973 100.0% 27,637 100.0%

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

LGPS

Fire Pension 

Scheme LGPS

Fire Pension 

Scheme

Mortality assumptions:

Men 22.1 22.4 22.1 21.9

Women 24.3 22.4 24.3 21.9

Longevity in years at 65 for future pensioners currently aged 45:

Men 23.8 24.7 23.8 23.9

Women 26.2 24.7 26.2 23.9

Other assumptions:

Rate of Inflation - 2.35% - 2.30%

2.70% - 2.60% -

2.70% - 2.70% -

2.70% - 2.70% -

Pension Increase Rate 2.40% 1.00% 2.40% 2.30%

Salary Increase Rate- Long Term 3.40% 4.35% 3.40% 4.30%

Salary Increase Rate- Short Term - 1.00% - 4.30%

Discount Rate 2.60% 2.65% 2.70% 2.55%

The significant assumptions used by the actuaries have been: 

Short duration

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the 

pensions that will be payable in future years dependant on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  

The LGPS is valued by the actuary, Hymans Robertson, and the Firefighters pension schemes are valued by 

GAD. These actuaries provide expert advice on assumptions to be applied.  The estimates for the LGPS Fund 

are based on the latest full valuation of the scheme in the 2016 actuarial report dated the 31
st
 March 2016.

2016/17

Longevity in years of current pensioners at 65:

Long duration

2017/18

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table 

above. The sensitivity analyses overleaf have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the 

assumptions occurring at the end of the year and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed 

changes while all the other assumptions remain constant. The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume 

that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and 

changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have 

followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 

method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis overleaf did not 

change from those used in the previous year.

Local Government Pension Plan assets comprised:

Medium duration
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Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Plan/Scheme

LGPS

Fire Pension

Schemes

£000 £000

as below 11,000

980 5,000

3,841 33,000

4,910 -42,000

Early retirement (change of 1 year) not available not available

38

39

The actuary estimate that a one year increase in life expectancy would approximately increase the LGPS 

Employer’s Defined Benefit Obligation by around  3-5% (£1,121k-£2,020k).

Contingent Liabilities

Impact on the CFA's Cash Flows

A provision of £148k has been made in relation to ongoing Firefighter pay award negotiations relating to the 

award for July 2017, representing 1% of pay. On 1
st
 July 2017 the employers side made an offer which included 

an immediate 2% increase on basic pay and CPD payments. The offer also included a further 3% increase with 

effect from 1
st
 July 2018, with arrangements for  future pay awards to be staged to fit to the overall pay 

framework, subject to agreement on broadening the role of Firefighters. On 13
th
 September the Executive 

Council decided not to accept the proposals. 

On 19
th
 September, the employers proposed that NJC pay rates be increased by 1%. A backdated pay increase 

was applied accordingly. Talks with national employers representatives have continued since then in an attempt 

to address pay, including pay for 2017/2018.  A backdated pay award for July 2017 over the 1% in the provision 

would result in an additional £148k cost for every 1% increase.

Opposite changes in the assumptions will provide approximately equal and opposite changes in the liability.

The objectives of the schemes are to keep employers' contributions at as constant a rate as possible.  

Leicestershire County Council has agreed a strategy with the plan's actuaries to achieve a funding level of 

100% over the next 18 years.  The next triennial valuation of the  LGPS is due to be completed on the 31
st 

March 2019. The CFA is anticipated to pay £821k contributions to the scheme in 2017-18. The weighted 

average duration of the defined benefit obligation for plan members is 23 years as at the latest formal valuation 

on 31
st
 March 2016. 

No such strategy exists for the Fire Pension schemes as they are unfunded schemes and therefore have no 

target funding level.  The methodology for calculating employer contribution rates to the Fire Pensions Schemes 

for the 2012 valuation is set out in 'The Public Services (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014.  

GAD undertook the first valuation exercise for the Firefighters schemes as at 31
st
 March 2016.  The results 

have not yet been published.

~ Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in, for example, interest rates

Nature and Extent of Risks arising from Financial Instruments

~ Liquidity risk - the possibility that the CFA might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make 

payments

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management has been adopted by the CFA and a Treasury 

Management Strategy is approved by the CFA each year. In addition, half yearly and annual reports are 

presented to CFA which highlight investment and borrowing progress and explain departures from the strategy.  

In this way, the risks are actively managed.

~ Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the CFA

The CFA's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

Rate of increase in salaries (change of 0.5%)

Longevity (change of 1 year)

Change in Assumption

Rate of increase in pensions (change of 0.5%)

Rate of discounting scheme liabilities (change of 0.5%)
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Minimum 

Credit 

Criteria / 

Sector 

Colour Band 

Max % of 

total 

investments/ 

£ limit per 

institution

Max. Maturity 

Period

AAA 100% Liquid

N/a 100%  1 year

Blue Up to 1 year

Orange Up to 1 year

Red Up to 6 Months

Green Up to 3 months

£000 £000 £000 %

1,145 633 0 0.00

6,980 9,150 0 0.00

117 77 0 0.00

60 86 0 0.02

8,302 9,946 0

1
st

 April 2017

31
st

 March 

2018

£000 £000

Less than 1 month overdue 0 11

1-2 months overdue 0 15

2-6 months overdue 0 8

Over 1 year overdue 60 52

TOTAL 60 86

Liquidity Risk

Lower Limit Upper Limit

0% 30%

0% 30%

0% 50%

0% 70%

25% 100%

5 years to 10 years

10 years and above

All trade and other payables are due to be repaid in less than one year. 

Less than 1 year

The CFA has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as 

needed.  If unexpected movements happen, the CFA is able to access borrowings from Leicester City Council, 

money markets and the PWLB.  There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance in order to meet 

its commitments under financial instruments. Instead the risk is that the CFA is exposed to is that it will be 

bound to replenish a significant proportion of its borrowings when interest rates are unfavourable. The CFA sets 

limits on the proportion of borrowings during specified periods.  The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as 

follows: 

Trade debtors:

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions and from providing chargeable services to 

customers. The CFA publishes criteria for lending surplus cash in the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The 

facilities applicable in this financial year are: 

Est. Maximum 

Exposure to 

Credit Risk1
st

 April 2017

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2017/18

The past due amount is analysed by age as follows: 

TOTAL

 - past due date for payment

Historical 

Experience of 

DefaultLoans and Receivables 

The following analysis summarises the CFA's potential maximum exposure to credit risk based on actual 

experience in terms of deposits and percentage of debt which has been written off as unrecoverable over the 

last three years in terms of debtors. All deposits shown on the Balance Sheet as at the 31
st
 March 2018 were 

repaid to the CFA before the date the Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue (31
st
 May 2018) where 

repayment was due in this period. There is no reason to doubt the credit quality of any of the customers 

amounts, whether current or past due for payment. 

Term deposits with banks and building societies

Money market funds

£5m

Credit Risk

Deposits with local authorities

31
st

 March 

2018

Since July 2016 the majority of the CFA's liquid cash is invested with Leicester City Council, who also govern 

the CFA's Treasury Management activities.

 - not yet due for payment

Institutions will be not be used where there are any doubts about their security. 

Deposits with banks, financial institutions

Invoices to customers for chargeable services are of relatively low value. 

12 months to 2 years

2 years to 5 years

Local authorities
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£000

118

(145)

An average rate of 0.39% (£46k) was achieved for investments, therefore this is the maximum amount which 

could be lost.

~ investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall.

The CFA has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk. Policy is to aim to have no borrowings in 

variable rate loans. During periods of falling interest rates, and where economic circumstances make it 

favourable, fixed rate loans will be repaid early to limit exposure to losses. 

The team responsible for Treasury Management has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure 

that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and which is used to revise the budget during the year. This 

allows any adverse changes to be accommodated.

~ borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact 

on the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

However, changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be 

posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements 

in the fair value of fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

The CFA is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowing and 

investments.  Movements in interest rates have a complex impact.  For instance, a rise in interest rates would 

have the following effects: 

~ investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services will rise

Market Risk 

According to this assessment strategy, at the 31
st
 March 2018, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all 

other variables held constant, the financial effects would be:

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings liabilities (no impact on the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure)

Additional interest receivable on variable rate investments (has a positive impact 

on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services)
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PENSION FUND STATEMENT

Firefighters' Pension Fund 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(2,366) (2,293)

(51) (40)

(1,910) (1,820)

(32) (6)

(4,359) (4,159)

9,837 10,118

3,169 1,967

0 533

110 0

13,116 12,618

8,757 8,459

(5,803) (5,637)

2,954 2,822

31
st

 March 

2017 31
st

 March 2018

£000 £000

2,954 2,822

2,954 2,822

NOTES TO THE FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION FUND STATEMENT

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

~ pensions top up grant receivable from Home Office

Deficit for the Year

Deficit for the year before top up grant receivable from Home Office 

     ~ ill health contributions

     ~ contributions in relation to pensionable pay

Income to the fund

Contributions receivable:

~ Fire authority

Fund Account

~ Commutation and lump-sum retirement benefits

Net current assets and liabilities:

Any Government funding payable is paid in two instalments, 80% of the estimated annual amount in July 

and any further surplus or deficit settled with the Home Office (formerly DCLG) following audit of the 

accounts for the year. 

The fund is in deficit by £445,400k as at the 31
st
 March 2018 (£438,620k as at the 31

st
 March 2017).

The pensions fund's accounts do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 

31
st
 March 2018.  These can be found in note 37 in the notes to the accounts.

The Government has determined that this account is deemed a pension fund separate from the CIES and 

is thus reported on separately. There are no assets in this scheme and the difference between income 

and expenditure is met by direct government funding to balance the account to nil each year, and 

therefore there is no surplus or deficit on this fund to impact on overall CFA reserves. 

Employer's and employee contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set nationally 

by the DCLG and are subject to triennial revaluation by the Government Actuary's Department.

The accounts are prepared in accordance with the same code of practice and accounting policies as 

outlined in the Statement of Accounting policies starting on page 16.

Spending by the fund

~Transfers in from other schemes

~ firefighters' contributions

It is these employer contributions (rather than the net cost of pensions) that are replaced in the CIES.

Income to the fund

Transfers in:

Payments To and On Behalf of Leavers

~ Other payments

~ Pensions

Benefits payable:

Spending by the fund

In accordance with the requirements of IAS19 the actual cost of pensions required for council tax setting 

purposes is replaced by the current service cost of pensions in CIES, and reversed out in the MIRS. 

Employee contributions, and employer contributions are paid into a separate account out of which 

pensions are paid. This is administered on behalf of the CFA by Leicestershire County Council Pensions 

Department.  Any deficit on this account is made up by direct government funding from the Home Office.

~ transfers out to other schemes

~ Top-up grant received 

Net grant receivable

Firefighters' Pension fund net assets statement
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Accruals 

The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as 

money is received or paid. 

Amortisation

The reduction of the value of an intangible asset by pro-rating its cost over a period of years.

Capital Expenditure 

Expenditure on the acquisition of non current assets or expenditure which adds to and not merely 

maintains the value of existing non current assets. 

Capital Receipts

Income from the sale of assets. Such income may only be used to repay loan debt or to finance new 

capital expenditure. 

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)

The principle accountancy body dealing with Local Authority and Public Sector finance.

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (The Code)

A publication produced by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) that 

provides comprehensive guidance on the content of the Authority's Statement of Accounts.

Contingent Liability

A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence of 

an uncertain future event not wholly within the CFA's control.  It can also be a present obligation 

arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required 

or where the amount of the obligation is uncertain.

Creditors

Amounts owed by the CFA for which payment has not been made by the end of the financial year.

Debtors

Amounts due to the CFA but unpaid at the end of the financial year.

Depreciation 

The measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the usual economic life of a non 

current asset during the accounting period. 
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Finance Lease

A method of financing the acquisition of assets.  Legally the assets are owned by the lessor, although 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets pass to the lessee.  The assets are shown on the 

Balance Sheet of the CFA.

Financial Instrument

Any contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another.  

Typical financial instruments are: trade payables, bank deposits, trade receivables and investments.

General Fund

The CFA's main revenue account, covering the net cost of all services.

Government Actuary's Department 

A Government Department that provides advice upon public sector pension arrangements, social 

security provision and regulators of private pension policies. 

Impairment

A reduction in the value of an asset, which is adfditional to the expected depreciation of that asset.  

Impairment may be a result of, for example, physical damage or reducing prices.

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment that yield benefits to the CFA for a period of more than one year. 

Operating Lease

A method of financing the acquisition of assets, notably equipment, vehicles, plant etc. which involves 

the payment of a rental by the user for a period which is normally substantially less than the useful 

economic life of the asset. 

Provision

A liability or loss relating to a past event which is likely or certain to be incurred but uncertain as to the 

date when it will arise, which can be reasonably estimated. 

Reserve

An amount set aside for purposes falling outside the definition of a provision. Reserves include 

earmarked reserves set aside for specific policy purposes and balances which represent resources 

set aside for general contingencies.

Revenue Expenditure and Income

Expenditure and income arising from the day to day operation of the CFA. 
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LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 
COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017-18 
 

1.   Introduction 

The Combined Fire Authority (CFA) is committed to good corporate 
governance and complies with the CIPFA/SOLACE “Delivering Good 
Governance Framework” (2016).  The Framework requires local authorities to 
be responsible for ensuring that: 

 their business is conducted in accordance with all relevant laws and 
regulations 

 public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for 

 resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively to achieve 
agreed priorities which benefit local people 

This statement is produced in fulfilment of the requirements under the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations, 2015, to prepare an annual governance statement. 
 
 
2. The Arrangements 
 
The CFA works within the governance framework summarised in Appendix 1, 
and has an approved Local Code of Corporate Governance.  The following 
details how the CFA meets the requirements of the Framework through the 
core principles, systems, policies and procedures it has in place. 

We have the following codes and rules: 

 Finance and Contract Procedure Rules 

 Code of Conduct for Members 

 Code of Conduct for Employees 

 Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 

Our six key corporate strategies support our six corporate aims and set 
out our approach to our priorities. They also inform Our Plan (Towards 
2020) and Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) and vice-versa. These 
are:  

 Operational Response Strategy 

 Community Safety Strategy 

 Budget Strategy 

 People Strategy 

 Governance and Managing Risk Strategy 

 Working Together Strategy 



 

We monitor: 

 Delivery of the corporate plan 

 Performance indicators  

 Delivery of the budget 

 Organisational Risk Register 

 
We are transparent in our decision making through: 

 Open CFA & committee meetings with published agenda, meeting 
papers and minutes 

 Scrutiny of our project development programme through committees 

 Stakeholder engagement on our budget; Our Plan and IRMP; key 
projects and partnership working 

 Publication of Freedom of Information Act responses and transparency 
data 

 
We are supported by: 

 Leicester City Council who provide the position of Treasurer to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of the CFA’s financial affairs 

 Leicestershire County Council who provide the position of Monitoring 
Officer to maintain the constitution, ensure lawfulness and fairness in 
decision-making and provide member services 

 A staff intranet, which provides guidance and policy documentation 

 Members and Senior Officers induction and development needs in 
relation to their strategic role are identified and supported by appropriate 
training  

 Group Manager Team, Project Boards and Project Teams led by middle 
and supervisory managers to implement effective delivery of service 
priorities 

 Partnership working on key priorities  

We review processes and delivery throughout the year supported by: 

 Internal Audit (provided by Leicestershire County Council) 

 External Audit 

 Corporate Governance Committee 

 Annual Report and Statement of Assurance   

 
3.  Significant Governance Issues 
 

The CFA’s review of processes enables the identification of any areas of the 
CFA’s activities where there are significant weaknesses in financial controls, 
governance arrangements or the management of risk.  Overall from this year’s 
work, the Head of the Internal Audit Service (HoIAS) concludes that there is 



reasonable assurance that the CFA’s control environment is both adequate and 
effective. 

The External Auditors are required by the International Standard on Auditing 
260 (ISA 260) to communicate about the audit of the Authority’s financial 
statements with those charged with governance. A written report for the 
2016/17 Statement of Accounts was presented to Members in September 2017 
and confirmed that the quality of the accounts was good, with no material 
adjustments required. Five recommendations were made, all of which have 
been suitably addressed in the 2017/18 accounts. Three significant risks were 
identified in the External Audit Plan for 2017/18. These related to the valuation 
of assets, valuation of pension liabilities and the faster closedown timetable. 
These are being addressed as part of the final accounts process for 2017/18. 

Areas of significant risk or priorities for action have been identified and are 
listed below, along with an update of the issues identified last year. 

Follow Up of Issues Identified in 2016/17 

Last year the following areas were identified as significant governance issues.  
The table below sets out the action that has been taken to address these issues 
in the current year: 

Issue Identified Action taken to date: 

Budget Strategy – the CFA’s financial viability is 
a key concern at a time of deep funding cuts, 
particularly in the period after 2019/20. 

The Budget Strategy 2017-2021 was approved 
by CFA in February 2018 and a balanced budget 
is anticipated in each year. Funding 
arrangements beyond 2020 however remain 
uncertain. Therefore, the revenue budget and 
reserves are being applied to reduce future risk, 
for example by improving the condition and 
efficiency of the estate and reducing future 
financing costs by funding capital spending from 
revenue. In addition, the Service is working in 
collaboration with other blue light services and its 
constituent councils to realise wider efficiencies. 

Fire Service Reform – Fire Service to be 
subject to separate Inspectorate regime. 
Working standards are being established by a 
Professional Standards Body. 

An Assurance team has been established 
following CFA approval of a restructure.  A pre 
inspection gap analysis is being progressed to 
identify gaps and resources needed to 
implement any service changes. Inspection 
commences Autumn 2018 

Collaborative Arrangements 
– Prevention strategy to be reviewed following 
pilot projects. 
– Give regard to new legislation that provides a 
‘Duty to Collaborate’ with the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner. A need to improve 
data sharing arrangements and have formal 
partnership agreements.   

Effective governance arrangements continue for 
collaborative projects.  

A report to CFA in February 2018 outlined 
progress in generic themes of estates, support, 
services/back office and operations. 

Constitution – to update for best practice and 
ensure a consistent approach.  

A revised Constitution was agreed by CFA in 
December 2017. 
 



Review of management arrangements – 
weaknesses identified in the finance function and 
the delivery of procurement and contract 
management. 

A review of the Finance team was completed 
and structural changes have taken place. An 
improvement plan is being implemented. 
Leicester City Council has reviewed and 
recommended updates to the contract 
procedure, rules and policy. 
Training has started for managers responsible 
for procurement. Access to a procurement 
specialist is available from Leicester City 
Council.  
A review of the HR function was completed by 
Leicester City Council with working 
improvements identified.  
A new Chief Fire and Rescue Officer was 
appointed in April 2018, subject to CFA approval.  

Data Protection – Legislative changes 
embodied in the General Data Protection 
Regulations for implementation from May 2018. 

A project team is established with an action plan 
developed and agreed. Arrangements for the 
appointment of a data protection officer are 
being made with Leicestershire County Council. 

 
Issues Identified in 2017/18  

The areas of significant risk or priorities for action that have been identified are 
listed below:  

Issue Identified Planned Action: 

Budget Strategy – Whilst the CFA’s financial 
position is considered robust for the immediate 
future, the national uncertainties around funding 
from 2020 mean that continued viability could 
once again become a key concern.  

The budget strategy is updated annually, and 
delivery continually monitored. Investment of  
reserves is targeted to reduce long-term ongoing 
expenditure, alongside other measures to reduce 
future spending, as noted in the above table. 

Fire Service Reform – Fire Services are subject 
to a new Inspectorate regime, namely Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services. New working standards 
are being established by the Professional 
Standards Body. 

Prepare for HMICFRS Inspection in Autumn 
2018 and consider any new areas identified for 
improvement before or resulting from the 
inspection. 

Collaborative Arrangements – Prevention 
strategy to be reviewed following pilot projects 
which explore new ways of working with the 
community.     

To continue and establish new effective 
governance arrangements with any current and 
future collaborative project(s). 

An extension to Braunstone Blues ends in 
September 2018 where a detailed independent 
review is being progressed to identify key 
learning that will shape future Prevention 
strategy. 

Performance -  improve planning and 
performance arrangements  

Refine the planning process and review 
corporate plans and strategies, improving 
performance management. 

The number of strategies will reduce from six to 
five, they will be: 

 Response Strategy  
 Safer Communities Strategy  

 Finance and Resources Strategy 
 People Strategy 
 Governance Strategy 



Code of conduct – improve processes  Improve the way Register of Interests, Gifts and 
Hospitality are declared, monitored and 
reviewed. 

 
4. Conclusion 
 
We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters 
to further enhance our governance arrangements.  We are satisfied that these 
steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our review 
of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of 
our next annual review. 
 
 
Signed:     

   
 
 
(Chair) 

  
 
 

(Date) 
     
   

 
(Chief Fire and 
Rescue Officer) 

  
 
 

(Date) 
     
  

 
 
 

 
 
(Treasurer) 

  
 
 

(Date) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Appendix 1 

        KEY ELEMENTS OF THE CFA’S GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  

        Key elements of the governance framework at the Combined Fire Authority are summarised 
below: 

 

         
Combined Fire Authority 
 
 Provide leadership, 

develop and set policy 
 

 

  
Decision making 
 
 Decisions are 

recorded on the 
CFA’s website 

 

  
Risk management 
 
 Risk registers 

identify both 
operational and 
strategic risks 
 

 Key risks are 
considered by 
Senior 
Management Team  

 

 

         
Scrutiny and review 
 
 Corporate Governance 

Committee has oversight 
of the financial reporting 
process and ensures that 
an adequate risk 
management framework 
and control environment 
is in place. 

 
 Employment Committee 

will make 
recommendations to the 
CFA on key appointments 
of senior officers and will 
hear grievances and 
disciplinary proceedings 
against these officers. 

 
 Approve the Internal Audit 

Annual report and opinion 
 

 Pension Board ensures 
the effective governance 
and administration of 
Pension Schemes and 
compliance with any 
requirements imposed by 
the Pensions Regulator. 

 

  
Senior Management Team  
 
 Provide service level management and interface 

with the political leadership 
 
 Head of Paid Service is the Chief Fire and Rescue 

Officer, who is responsible for leading an effective 
senior management team (SMT) 
 

 The Treasurer is the s.151 Officer at Leicester City 
Council and is responsible for safeguarding the 
CFA’s financial position and ensuring value for 
money 

 
 Monitoring Officer is the Leicestershire County 

Council Director Law and Governance who is 
responsible for ensuring legality and promoting 
high standards of public conduct 

 
 SMT includes all operational directors and service 

area managers 
 

 

        


